AGREEMENT

Between

Local 5103

Health Professionals and Allied Employees

AFT, AFL-CIO

and

American Red Cross Blood Services, Penn-Jersey Region

January 1, 2025 - December 31, 2028

TABLE OF CONTENTS

P	ล	σ	e

1.INTENT OF AGREEMENT	
2.UNION RECOGNITION	
3.MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
4.UNION SECURITY	2
5.UNION DUES CHECK OFF	3
6.GENDER USE	
7.ORIENTATION OF NEW EMPLOYEES INFORMATION	3
8.PROBATION	
9.DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEE	. Error! Bookmark not defined.
10.PERSONNEL FILE	
11.WORK WEEK [Articles 5 and 7]	
12.SCHEDULING AND STAFFING [Article 10]	. Error! Bookmark not defined.
13.LICENSES	
14.SENIORITY	
15.LAYOFF AND RECALL	
16.JOB VACANCIES AND POSTING	
17.NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT	
18.DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	
19.GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	
20.NEW JOB CLASSIFICATIONS	
21.BULLETIN BOARDS	
22.INFORMATION TO UNION	
23.ACCESS AND SOLICITATION	
24.UNION REPRESENTATIVES	
25.HOLIDAYS	
26.PAID TIME OFF	
27.CATASTROPHIC SICK LEAVE	
28.ATTENDANCE POLICY	
29.WORKERS' COMPENSATION	
30.LEAVES OF ABSENCE	
31.FUNERAL LEAVE	
32.JURY DUTY	
	27
34.HEALTH AND WELFARE AND RETIREMENT BENEFIT	
35.MILEAGE & TRAVEL TIME	
36.PERSONAL EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT & PARKING	
37.PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING	
38.NON-DISCRIMINATION	
39.HEALTH AND SAFETY	29
40.LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE [Align with Artic	
41.PREMIUM PAYMENTS, BONUSES AND ON CALL PAY	′31

42.WAGES	31
43.SUCCESSORSHIP AND SUBCONTRACTING	34
44.SEPARABILITY	34
45.UNION BLOOD DRIVE	34
46.PAYROLL IN ARREARS	34
47.TERM OF AGREEMENT	34

AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made and entered by and between the American Red Cross Blood Services, **Southeastern Pennsylvania Region**, , a health care institution as defined in Section 2(14) of the National Labor Relations Act, 700 Spring Garden St., Philadelphia, PA 19123 (hereinafter known as the "Region") and the Health Professionals and Allied Employees, AFT, AFL/CIO, 110 Kinderkamack Rd., Emerson, NJ 07630 (the "Union") on behalf of itself and its Local 5103.

1.INTENT OF AGREEMENT

The parties recognize that it is the responsibility of the Region to provide a continuous program of vital services essential to the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens served by the Region. The intent of this Agreement is to assure that these services are rendered economically, efficiently, with the highest standards of donor care, customer service and service to the community, and without interference or interruption in a work environment that fosters mutual respect and a professional atmosphere. To these ends, the parties mutually enter into this Agreement which sets forth the terms and conditions of employment of employees covered by the Agreement, and provides a peaceful means for the adjustment of differences with respect to the interpretation or application of this Agreement.

2.UNION RECOGNITION

The Region recognizes the Union as the exclusive collective bargaining representative of all regular full time, regular part time and per diem employees, in the following job classifications at the Region's 700 Spring Garden Street facility, at its fixed sites located in Willow Grove, West Chester, Northeast Philadelphia, Pennsauken, **Horsham**, and Fairfield, at its autologous collections operations and on bloodmobiles dispatched out of its 700 Spring Garden Street facility, and at any new fixed site, autologous collections operations, and dispatch point for bloodmobiles established by the Region within its geographical area which constitutes an accretion to the bargaining units: [Job titles to be standardized across ARC]

(Technical)

Collections: Donor Collection Assistants Collection Tech III's, Collection Tech III's, Collection Specialist I's, Donor Collection Assistants - Reserve, Auditors, and Donor service specialists Collection Specialist II (Charge).

APS: Scheduling, Collection Staff; Planning Assistant II, Calendar; Coordinator Collections.

(Professional)

Collection Specialist II, RN; Collection Specialist I, RN. 3.MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

3.1. Except as expressly limited by specific language in this Agreement, the Region retains the right to exercise all the powers, prerogatives, rights and functions customarily retained by management.

- 3.2. These management rights, prerogatives, and functions retained exclusively by the Region include, but are not limited to, the following: to reprimand, suspend, discharge, or otherwise discipline employees for just cause; to determine the number of employees to be employed; to utilize part-time, per diem, and temporary employees and volunteers; to hire employees, determine their qualifications and assign and direct their work; to assign on a temporary basis bargaining unit employees to non-bargaining unit positions while on light duty; to assign to employees work not traditionally perceived to be bargaining unit work; to promote, demote, transfer, layoff, and recall to work employees; to set standards of quality, production, service and efficiency; to determine an employee's ability to perform assigned work in a satisfactory manner; to maintain the efficiency of operations; to determine the personnel, methods, procedures, means, and facilities by which operations are conducted; to set the starting and quitting time, the number of hours and shifts to be worked and the workweek; to require, schedule and assign overtime work; to establish and change work schedules and assignments; to use independent contractors to perform work or services; to subcontract, contract out, close down, or relocate the Region's operations or any part thereof; to expand, reduce, alter, combine, transfer, assign, or cease any job, department, operation, or service; to establish new job classifications; to determine job content; to control and regulate the use of machinery, facilities, equipment, and other property of the Region; to introduce new or improved service, testing, and maintenance methods, materials, machinery, and equipment; to issue, amend and revise policies, procedures, rules, regulations, and practices; and to take whatever action is either necessary or advisable to determine, manage and fulfill the mission of the Region and to direct the Region's employees.
- 3.3. The failure of the Region to exercise any power, function, authority or right reserved or retained by it, or the exercise of any function, authority or right in a particular way, including matters relating to discipline, shall not be deemed a waiver of the right of the Region to exercise its rights and functions in some other way not in conflict with the specific provisions of this Agreement.

4.UNION SECURITY

4.1. Employees covered by this Agreement at the time it becomes effective and who are members of the Union at that time shall be required, as a condition of continued employment, to continue membership in the Union for the duration of this Agreement. Employees covered by this Agreement who are not members of the Union at the time this Agreement becomes effective shall be required, as a condition of continued employment, to become members of the Union on or within five (5) days after the thirtieth (30th) calendar day following such effective date. Employees hired, rehired, reinstated, or transferred into one of the bargaining units after the effective date of this Agreement and covered by this Agreement shall be required, as a condition of employment, to become members of the Union on or within five (5) days after the 30th calendar day following the beginning of their employment. An employee who shall tender initiation fees (if not already a member) and the periodic dues uniformly required as a condition of acquiring or retaining membership shall be deemed to be a member of the Union.

- 4.2. Employees whose membership is terminated by reason of the failure of the employee to tender the periodic dues and initiation fees uniformly required as a condition of acquiring or retaining membership shall not be retained by the Region. No employee shall be terminated under this Article, however, unless she has failed to tender delinquent dues and/or initiation fees within five (5) days after written notice from the Union of such delinquency and the Region is advised of such failure in a written request for removal of the employee from bargaining unit work.
- 4.3. The Union will indemnify and save the Region harmless from any claims by an employee by reason of the Region's compliance in fulfilling the terms of this Article.

5.UNION DUES CHECK OFF

- 5.1. Upon receipt of a signed authorization from an employee, the Region shall, pursuant to such authorization, deduct from the wages due the employee each pay period, the initiation fee and/or dues required by the Union as a condition of acquiring or retaining membership therein. The amount to be deducted shall be certified by the Union and the aggregate deductions of all employees shall be remitted, together with an itemized statement that includes hours worked and the hourly rate of pay of each employee, to the Union by the tenth (10th) day of the succeeding month after such deduction is made.
- 5.2. Upon receipt of a signed authorization from an employee, the Region shall, pursuant to such authorization, deduct from the wages due the employee each pay period a voluntary deduction for the COPE fund, in the amount specified by the employee. The total amount deducted from employees for the COPE fund, with an itemized list of employees authorizing such deductions and the amounts thereof, shall be forwarded to the Union by the tenth (10th) day of the month following the deduction. Remittance to the Union of COPE Fund deductions shall be by a separate check and not combined with dues and/or initiation fees.
- 5.3. The Union agrees to indemnify and hold the Region harmless from any and all claims resulting from any deduction from wages made in accordance with this Article.

6.GENDER USE

6.1. The Use of the male or female gender in this Agreement shall mean both "he and she" and "his and hers" "they/them" and "their/theirs."

7. ORIENTATION OF NEW EMPLOYEES INFORMATION

7.1. During the orientation for each new bargaining unit employee, the Region will schedule an **paid half hour (30 minutes) meeting** during which the new bargaining unit employee can attend lunch with a Union representative to receive: a copy of the collective bargaining agreement, a list of Union officers and representatives, a copy of the work rules and information concerning the collective bargaining agreement, the probationary period, the Union newsletter, a brief history of the Union and information concerning the

Union's internal structure. This orientation may be conducted by a Union Staff Representative or a bargaining unit Union Officer on unpaid time.

8.PROBATION

8.1. A new employee shall be on a probationary basis for his first 180 calendar days after commencing work in the bargaining unit, except that employees who are hired after the date of this Agreement shall be on probation from the time the employee commences work in the bargaining unit until 180 calendar days after completion of the employee's training. The Region may, at its sole discretion, discharge any employee during his probationary period for any reason. A probationary employee who is discharged shall not be entitled to utilize the grievance-arbitration procedure provided in Article 19, Grievance and Arbitration Procedure, to challenge such discharge. Upon satisfactory completion of the probationary period, Red Cross seniority shall be credited from the date of hire. For whole blood staff employees, at the completion of training, the Region will attempt to assign the probationary employee to work with three or four senior managers and/or nurse managers during the next six week period. After this, the probationary employee may be assigned to any work in the bargaining unit.

9.DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEE

The definition of Employment Categories is set forth in Article 5 of the National Addendum; however, per the National Addendum, the definition of full time employees under this Agreement shall continue to be those employees classified as full time and who are regularly scheduled to work 35 hours or more per week. Notwithstanding the above, an employee's eligibility for benefits is controlled by the relevant benefits provisions in the National Addendum.

- 9.1. Regular full-time See Article 5 in the National Addendum
- 9.2. Regular part-time See Article 5 in the National Addendum
- 9.3. Per diem employees shall be defined as those employees who are employed on a regular basis to supplement the regular staff and whose schedules are irregular. Per diem employees are required to be available to work for the Region for one to two days per week, except that any employee hired as a per diem employee before January 1,1990 may be required to work on a less frequent basis. [To be determined by local MOU]
- (A) All temporary employees who become regular full-time, regular part-time or per diem employees shall have their hours worked as temporary employees count towards their seniority at the time that they gain regular employee or per diem employee status.
- (B) Before hiring a temporary employee, the Region shall post a notice of the temporary opening for one (1) week, unless the temporary opening has arisen because of an emergency. Regular employees and per diem employees shall be given preference for a temporary position over external applicants. Regular part-time and per diem employees can only bid for temporary openings that have more scheduled hours than those for which they are currently scheduled. Regular employees and per diem employees are guaranteed

to return to their previous job position after the specific time period of the temporary job has expired.

- (C) If a temporary position, which has been created to fill a temporary need, is converted to a regular position, the regular position will be posted in accordance with Article 16.
- 9.4. Regular full-time employees shall be entitled to all benefits set forth in this Agreement. Regular part-time employees shall be entitled to benefits only as specified in each Article of this Agreement. Unless otherwise specified in an Article of this Agreement, per diem and temporary employees shall not be entitled to benefits (other than retirement benefits).
- 9.5. All bargaining unit employees will be paid time and one half for hours worked in excess of forty (40) per week.

10.PERSONNEL FILE

- 10.1. Except for matters relating to or that may relate to the grievance procedure, an employee shall be allowed to review her personnel file once a year, provided the employee submits a written request to the Director of Human Resources or designee. Upon such written request, a mutually acceptable time will be established for the employee to review her file with a Human Resources representative during regular business hours. If requested by the employee in writing, a Union representative may accompany the employee. All reviews must be conducted during non-paid time. The employee may take notes while reviewing the file, but may not amend or supplement the file. If requested by the employee, the Region, within a reasonable amount of time, shall provide the employee with a copy of any document but may require payment of up to \$0.25 per page for extensive copying.
- 10.2. In the event an employee is accused of misconduct or a violation of rules, and the accusation is subsequently found to be without merit, there shall be no record of the accusation in the employee's file.
- 10.3. All disciplinary records will be excluded from consideration in progressive discipline twelve (12) months after the issuance of the discipline.

11.WORK WEEK

- 11.1. Work week See definition in Article 5 of the National Addendum
- 11.2. An employee who is subject to being assigned to a non-traditional work week will be offered, on the basis of seniority, the opportunity to move into a traditional work week schedule within her current classification when the Region determines that there is a permanent vacancy on the traditional work week schedule.

11.3. The current policy and practice for scheduling part time and per diem employees shall be maintained for employees in part-time or per diem status as of May 23, 1999. The Region may exercise its discretion in scheduling employees hired into or moving into a part-time or per diem position on or after May 23, 1999.

The Region may hire weekend per diem employees who will be paid for weekend work at 1.3 times the rate the employees otherwise would receive if they were not a weekend per diem employee. Weekend per diem employees must be available to work at least 4 weekend days per month and also must be available to attend required training and staff meetings during the week. A weekend per diem employee may volunteer to work during the week at the employee's non-premium rate and may be scheduled for such work at the Region's option.

After the schedule is issued to all bargaining unit members (full-time, part-time and per diem), other members may be added to the schedule. No bargaining unit member already scheduled will be required to switch to accommodate such request.

- 11.4. The normal workday shall be eight (8) hours of work or such lesser amount of time as might be required to perform mobile functions for employees assigned to mobiles and ten (10 hours or such lesser amount of time as might be required to perform functions for employees assigned to fixed sites. A full time employee who works a shift on a blood collection operation or Fixed Site shall be guaranteed forty (40) hours of pay per week. Any part time employee assigned 3 or more days per week in Workday will be guaranteed 24 hours pay per week, a per diem employee will be guaranteed 8 hours per day.
- 11.5. Meal Breaks referenced in Section 8 of National Addendum
- 11.6. Employees may be required by the Blood Service to work in excess of the regular workweek. The workday is defined in section 11.4 above. All employees shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half (1½) the regular straight-time hourly rate for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in one (1) week. A day of compensated unscheduled PTO shall not be counted as any hours worked for the purpose of computing overtime. For employees hired after September 30, 2011, travel time shall not be considered hours worked for purposes of calculating overtime. Employees regularly scheduled a five (5) day workweek will be paid time and one half for hours worked on the sixth and seventh work day in a work week. Apheresis employees regularly scheduled a four day work week will be paid time and one half for hours worked on the fifth, sixth and seventh day of work in a work week. There shall be no pyramiding of overtime.
- 11.7. On a monthly basis, employees shall indicate their requests for overtime shifts at particular sites or geographical locations on Saturday, Sunday, or designated holidays. Two (2) weeks after the submission of such requests, the Region shall post a notice of employees' requests for overtime for a one-month period. When scheduled overtime is required for a particular day, the Region shall first attempt to obtain qualified volunteers by seniority from among those who have indicated their desire to work on that day. The Region may offer a senior employee the opportunity to work at a site closer to the em-

ployee's home if insufficient volunteers are available. In the event that there are not sufficient volunteers to perform the overtime work, it shall be assigned to qualified employees in reverse order of seniority, on a rotational basis. The Region may reassign an employee to work at a site closer to the employee's home. However no employee will be required to work such overtime if she does not live within forty (40) miles of the collection site in question, except the 40-mile limitation will not apply where there is an insufficient number of employees within the 40-mile radius. Each week the Region shall post a notice of employees who have worked overtime during the previous week. The Region will continue to operate according to the guidelines set forth in the side letter of June 17,1998, attached to this agreement as Attachment A.

- 11.8. If an employee as instructed reports to a place of work and no work is available or the site has been deemed to be unsafe in accordance with Article 39, Section 39.6, the employee shall contact the Director of Collections or her designee for instructions. If the employee is sent home, the employee shall be paid eight (8) hours for the day. If the employee is reassigned to another working location, working time will be continuous and, if applicable, overtime will be paid. In the event that the site to which an employee is assigned is closed because of inclement weather, such reassignment shall, where feasible, be to a work site the same or shorter distance from the employee's home.
- 11.9. If an employee is required to attend a meeting or in-service conducted by the Region and is then assigned to another work location the same day, working time will be continuous and, if applicable, overtime will be paid, but employees will not be eligible to receive travel time for these hours. Grievance and disciplinary meeting will be exempt from these requirements.

12.SCHEDULING AND STAFFING [ARTICLE 10]

- 12.1. Work schedules shall normally be issued **three (3) weeks** in advance. The parties recognize that changes in scheduling may be necessary.
- 12.2. The Region shall first seek volunteers by seniority in the event of a major change in schedule which occurs without at least forty-eight (48) hours' advance notice. In the event that there is not a sufficient number of volunteers, the Region will assign employees, by reverse order of seniority, provided that the Region may choose not to assign an employee if her assignment would result in a major change in schedule.
- 12.3. The Region shall continue to take into account the proximity of the employee's home to the mobile site in scheduling.
- 12.4. The Region will staff blood drives according to law.
- 12.5. All employees who are currently assigned to pheresis operations at fixed sites on a regular basis shall continue to be so assigned. Notwithstanding the above, nothing in this Section shall be interpreted to preclude the Company from maintaining, instituting or changing shifts or workweeks to obtain the production it desires per Article 7 of the National Addendum, which includes the right to require employees to work Saturdays or

Sundays. Vacancies for regular fixed site positions will be filled in accordance with Article 16. This provision does not limit the Region's right to assign fixed site employees on an occasional basis elsewhere or non-fixed site employees to fixed sites, provided that:

- (A) Fixed site pheresis employees will only be assigned to a non-pheresis site when non-pheresis employees are not available;
- (B) Employees who are cross-trained in pheresis but not regularly assigned to a fixed site shall be assigned to fill schedule vacancies, which are known more than thirty-six (36) hours in advance, at pheresis sites before employees who are not cross-trained in pheresis are so assigned;
- (C) Employees who are cross-trained in pheresis but not regularly assigned to a fixed site shall be assigned to fill schedule vacancies at blood collection sites before employees who are currently regularly assigned to a fixed site; and
- (D) Floating pheresis staff assigned to pheresis work who begin the workshift at a pheresis site and who are then pulled to a whole blood operation shall be paid the pheresis rate for the day.

Notwithstanding the above, nothing in this Section shall be interpreted to preclude the Company from maintaining, instituting or changing shifts or workweeks to obtain the production it desires per Article 7 of the National Addendum, which includes the right to require employees to work Saturdays or Sundays.

- 12.6. The Region will not replace any laid-off registered nurse with a non-registered nurse. As determined by MOU #1 to the National Addendum
- 12.7. The Region will make available for scheduling on a seniority basis for the whole blood collection staff in the professional unit 3 "early" slots per day and 3 "late" slots per day to be assigned on a weekly basis. The Region will make available for scheduling on a seniority basis for the whole blood collection staff in the technical unit a number equal to five percent, but no less than 8 total, of the bargaining unit (calculated on October 1st for the next calendar year) for "early" slots per day and "late" slots per day to be assigned on a weekly basis. For an early, registration ends by 2:30 p.m., and for a late, registration opens at or after 2:00 p.m. Effective January 1, 2013, for an early, registration ends by 3:00 p.m.
- 12.8. The Region will make available for scheduling on an individual basis 3 "early" slots per day and 3 "late" slots per day for the professional unit. The Region also will make available "early" and "late" slots per day for the technical unit in a number equal to five percent, but no less than 5 total slots, of the bargaining unit (calculated on October 1st for the next calendar year). "Early" slots and "late" slots will be available per day on a first come first granted basis for scheduling for the whole blood collection staff on a floating basis to accommodate special personal circumstances. Such requests shall be made at least three weeks in advance and shall be confirmed in writing within one week of submission.

- 12.9. Second Assignments. A second assignment is defined as working on two separate shifts where the hours worked plus any intermediate travel time exceeds ten hours. Employees (pheresis & whole blood) who work such second assignment will be paid for sixteen hours. The Region shall seek volunteers to work second assignments. When there are insufficient volunteers, the Region shall assign employees in rotation by reverse seniority. Employees shall not be assigned to work a second assignment that is more than 40 miles from their first assignment. There shall be no more than 10 forced second assignments made per month unless there is a blood emergency. Notwithstanding the above, nothing in this Section shall be interpreted to preclude the Company from maintaining, instituting or changing shifts or workweeks to obtain the production it desires per Article 7 of the National Addendum, which includes the right to require employees to work Saturdays or Sundays.
- 12.10. Notwithstanding the above, nothing in this Section shall be interpreted to preclude the Company from maintaining, instituting or changing shifts or workweeks to obtain the production it desires per Article 7 of the National Addendum, which includes the right to require employees to work Saturdays or Sundays.

Employees shall report promptly to the Region all motor vehicle accidents that occur during the workday or while the employee is performing assigned work at any time or while the employee is operating a Region vehicle

13.LICENSES

- 13.1. It is understood that if a license is required by the Region or federal, State, or local government in order to perform work in the job classifications covered by this Agreement, such shall be a condition of continued employment with the Region. A denial, non-approval, or withdrawal of such license by such governmental agency shall be just cause for suspension without pay or other discipline. If the employee diligently pursues an appeal to the appropriate agency of the government for revocation of such denial or withdrawal and, if upon review by such agency, the license is granted or reinstated within ten (10) business days of the revocation, denial or withdrawal, the employee shall be reinstated in accordance with his/her seniority. If the license is not granted or reinstated within ten (10) business days, the employee will be subject to discharge. An employee must provide proof of license renewal prior to expiration of her current license.
- 13.2. It is understood that there shall be no liability, financial or otherwise, on the part of the Region for any discharge or suspension arising out of a denial, non-approval or withdrawal of a certificate or license.
- 13.3. The cost of licenses in an employee's state of residence shall be borne by the employee.
- 13.4. Each employee covered by this Agreement who is required to operate a motor vehicle owned or leased by the Region as part of her employment duties shall at all times when operating such motor vehicle have a valid motor vehicle license issued by the State of their residence, and she shall authorize the motor vehicle administration of said State to furnish to the Region, upon request, a copy of the employee's driving record, as maintained by the State.

Employees are required to inform the Region immediately when they have a suspended, revoked, or expired license. Failure to do so will result in discipline up to and including discharge. A denial, non-approval, or withdrawal of such license by such governmental agency shall be just cause for suspension without pay or other discipline. If the employee diligently pursues an appeal to the appropriate agency of the government for revocation of such denial or withdrawal and, if upon review by such agency, the license is granted or reinstated within ten (10) business days of the revocation, denial or withdrawal, the employee shall be reinstated in accordance with her seniority. If the license is not granted or reinstated within ten (10) business days, the employee will be subject to discharge. An employee must provide proof of license renewal prior to expiration of her current license.

The cost of drivers' licenses, including special licenses, shall be borne by the employee.

13.5. The parties understand that, from time to time, certain facilities require additional security clearances for staff to enter those facilities. Employees will cooperate with the Region in furnishing appropriate information requested by such sponsors.

14.SENIORITY

14.1. Definition.

- (A) <u>Red Cross Seniority</u>. Red Cross seniority is defined as the length of an employee's unbroken service with the American Red Cross since the date of employment.
- (B) <u>Break in Service</u>. Unless otherwise expressly stated in a National Red Cross Policy or Plan, a break in service will occur if an employee is no longer employed by the Red Cross for a period of time equal to the length of the employee's prior Red Cross service or six months, whichever is shorter.
- 14.2. <u>Loss of Red Cross Seniority</u>. Red Cross seniority shall be lost and the employee terminated for any of the following reasons:
 - (A) Resignation.
 - (B) Discharge for just cause.
- (C) Layoff for a period equal to the employee's Red Cross seniority or for one (1) year, whichever is less.
- (D) Failure to notify the Region that the employee will return to work within one week after a recall notice has been delivered; or failure to report for work on the date set in the recall notice, which date shall not be earlier than two weeks from delivery of the recall notice. Notice of recall shall be sent by certified mail, hand delivery or overnight courier. It is the employee's responsibility to notify the Region promptly of any change in address.
- (E) Refusal of reinstatement to the highest classification to which an employee has recall rights.
- (F) If the employee engages in other gainful employment without Region approval while on approved paid leave of absence.
- (G) Failure to report to work following expiration of an approved leave of absence, without prior approval for an extension.
 - (H) The employee retires or dies.
- (I) Inability to perform assigned duties for more than nine (9) months on account of a non-work-related disability. The nine months of disability must be consecutive unless the employee returns to work for ninety days or fewer, in which case the total time of disability before and after the return(s) to work will be deemed to be consecutive.

(J) Inability to perform assigned duties for more than twelve (12) months on account of a work-related disability. The twelve months of disability must be consecutive unless the employee returns to work for ninety days or fewer, in which case the total time of disability before and after the return(s) to work will be deemed to be consecutive.

15.LAYOFF AND RECALL

- 15.1. No regular employee and no per diem employee who worked more than 1040 hours in the previous twelve (12) months shall be laid off without written notice to the Union and the employee(s) as follows:
- (A) The Region will provide the employees to be laid off with three (3) weeks' notice or pay in lieu of notice.
- (B) In the event an employee receives advance notice of any length per Section 15.1 (a), then the Region will provide the Union with written notice no later than one (1) week before the date on which employees are provided actual notice. Upon request, the Region shall meet with the Union to discuss the impending layoff. If the Region provides an employee with three (3) weeks' pay in lieu of notice, then the Region will provide the Union with written notice no later than the date on which employees are provided actual notice in accordance with Section 15.1 (a), provided that, in the sole discretion of the Region, it may provide additional notice to the Union.
- (C) In the event of a layoff due to unforeseen emergency causes, the Region will provide the employees to be laid off with two (2) weeks' notice of layoff or pay in lieu of notice; and the Region will provide the Union with written notice of such a layoff no later than the date on which employees are provided actual notice.
- 15.2. Upon notice to the Union in accordance with Section 15.1(b) or (c), the Region will "freeze" all vacant positions, in job classification(s) affected by the layoff(s), with respect to external applicants until the effective date of the layoff.
- 15.3. In the event of a layoff, the employee(s) with the least Red Cross seniority in the classification(s) affected will be laid off, with volunteers, temporary employees and probationary employees in the classification to be laid off first.
- 15.4. An employee who is to be laid off pursuant to Section 15.1 may, within three (3) working days after receiving layoff notification, exercise seniority rights by displacing the employee with the least Red Cross seniority in any equal or lower-rated classification in the bargaining unit provided she is qualified to perform the work. Part-time employees and per diem employees who worked more than 1040 hours in the previous twelve (12) months shall be eligible to displace employees with the least Red Cross seniority in any equal or lower-rated classification, provided that said employees are qualified and are willing to work the hours of that position. For purposes of this section, an employee who displaces another employee in an equal or lower-rated classification, or a classification in which she previously worked, will be deemed "qualified", even if "in-house" training conducted by the Region is required.

- (A) Notwithstanding the above, in the event of a layoff, no more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the employees in a classification shall be displaced as a result of the training required in Section 15.4. Training shall be provided to employees in order of their Red Cross seniority.
- 15.5. Recall from layoff will be on the basis of Red Cross seniority, the most senior employee in the job classification being recalled first. In case of recall, the Region shall notify the most senior employee by certified mail, hand delivery, or overnight mail to their most recent address on file with the Region. The employee shall notify the Region of her intent within one (1) week of the delivery of the letter as to whether or not she will accept the position. In its letter, the Region shall notify the employee of the requirement to respond within such one (1) week period.

This provision shall also apply where the employee is working in a downgraded position as a result of the displacement procedure set forth in Section 15.4. An employee who has been laid off, and who has been recalled to a position, will continue to accrue seniority during the period of layoff.

16.JOB VACANCIES AND POSTING

- 16.1. When the Region decides to fill a job vacancy in the bargaining unit, notice of said vacancy shall be posted in accordance with Region procedure. Eligible employees shall give the Region notice of their desire to fill such a vacancy by following Region procedure.
- 16.2. All employees who meet the minimal requirements for the vacancy shall be eligible to receive an interview for such vacancy. The Region at its discretion shall determine the number of employee applicants to interview, provided that the Region shall interview those employee applicants with the most Red Cross seniority.
- 16.3. The Region will give consideration to bid applicants by considering overall qualifications, including job-related skills (including interpersonal communication skills), knowledge, experience, and work record. In the event that the overall qualifications of the best employee applicants are comparable, the employee with the most Red Cross seniority will be awarded the position.
- 16.4. In the event that one or more employees who are qualified applies for a job vacancy, one of the employee applicants will be awarded the position over any external applicants. In the event that there are no employee applicants who are qualified for the job vacancy, the Region may fill the vacancy from any source it deems appropriate.
- 16.5. To be eligible to bid for job vacancies an employee must have had their most recent permanent bid job assignment for a minimum period of twelve (12) months, provided, however, an employee will not lose his or her bidding eligibility as result of a Region initiated transfer. Further, the Region may waive the twelve (12) month period if there are no other qualified employee applicants.

- 16.6. Each employee applicant who receives an interview will be notified in writing of the decision with respect to her application. The notification will state that (1) the applicant has been offered the position.
- 16.7. The successful bidder will be placed on a qualification period for the duration of training plus thirty (30) days, during which the employee may disqualify herself from the new job and/or the Region may also disqualify the employee during this period. If the employee is voluntarily or involuntarily disqualified for the promotion, the employee will have the right to return to her former position, or, if that position is not available, to exercise her bumping rights. The Region's decision with respect to disqualification shall be grievable through Step 2, but shall not be subject to the arbitration provisions of this Agreement.
- 16.8. If an employee in the bargaining unit is promoted to a non-bargaining unit position, she shall have the right to return to her former position within six (6) months of the promotion without loss of previous rights or privileges. In the event the position is not open, the employee shall be allowed to exercise her bumping rights. The employee may voluntarily initiate a return to the former position without prejudice during the trial period.

17.NO STRIKE/NO LOCKOUT

- 17.1. During the term of this Agreement, the Union, its officers, agents, Representatives and members shall not call, authorize, or take part in any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, picketing, handbilling, boycott, or any other interference with or interruption of work at any of the Region's operations or at any facility where Region employees are scheduled to work. The failure of the Union or any employee to cross or work behind any peaceful picket line established at any of the Region's facilities or at any location where an employee is directed or scheduled to perform her normal duties is a violation of this Section.
- 17.2. The failure or refusal on the part of any employee to comply with the provisions of this Agreement shall be cause for immediate discipline, up to and including discharge.
- 17.3. In consideration of the Union's commitment as set forth in Section 17.1, the Region agrees that there shall be no lockouts during the term of this Agreement.
- 17.4. In the event of an alleged violation of Section 17.1 by the Union or violation of Section 17.3 by the Region, where the underlying dispute is not subject to resolution pursuant to the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in Article 19 of this Agreement, the Region or the Union, respectively, may institute expedited arbitration proceedings regarding such alleged violation of Section 17.1 or Section 17.3, respectively, by delivering notice thereof in writing or by facsimile to the Union or to the Region and to the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service.

Immediately upon receipt of such notices, the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service shall appoint an arbitrator to hear the matter.

The arbitrator shall determine the time and place of the hearing, give notice thereof in writing or by facsimile, and hold the hearing within twenty-four (24) hours after his appointment.

The fee and other expenses of the arbitrator in connection with this expedited arbitration proceeding shall be shared equally by the Region and the Union. The failure of either party or any witnesses to attend the hearing, as scheduled and noticed by the arbitrator shall not delay the hearing, and the arbitrator shall proceed to take evidence and issue an award and order as though such party or witness were present. The sole issue at the hearing shall be whether a violation of Section 17.1 or Section 17.3 has occurred or is occurring, and the arbitrator shall not consider any matter justifying, explaining or mitigating such violation.

If the arbitrator finds that a violation of Section 17.1 or Section 17.3 is occurring or has occurred, he shall issue a cease and desist order with respect to such violation.

The arbitrator's written opinion, award and order shall be issued within twenty-four (24) hours after the close of the hearing. Such award and order shall be final and binding on the Region and the Union.

- 17.5. In the event of an alleged violation of Section 17.1 or Section 17.3 where the underlying dispute is subject to arbitration pursuant to Article 19, the Region or the Union, respectively, may immediately apply to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania or any other court of competent jurisdiction for injunctive relief, including a temporary restraining order, prohibiting the continuation of such an alleged violation pending submission of the matter to arbitration and the issuance and enforcement of the arbitrator's order.
- 17.6. The remedies set forth in this Article are not exclusive, and the Region or Union may pursue whatever other remedies are available at law or equity.

18.DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

- 18.1. The Region will not discipline or discharge employees without just cause.
- 18.2. A discipline is defined as a report of an oral warning, a written warning, a suspension without pay, and a discharge.
- 18.3. The Region shall apply the attached written work rules.
- 18.4. There shall be a maximum of two weeks from the date of the disciplinary infraction or the date when the Region became aware of the disciplinary infraction, to the issuance of the discipline, except where the two-week limitation is unreasonable under all of the circumstances. The employee and the Union shall be notified if any extension is needed beyond two weeks, except where notification would impair an investigation.

- 18.5. In all cases involving a discipline of an employee, the Region must promptly notify the employee in writing of his/her discipline and the reason(s) therefore. In case of a discharge or suspension, such written notice shall also be given to a Union officer, and a copy mailed or faxed to the Union office within two (2) working days from the time of the suspension or discharge.
- 18.6. A discharged employee must immediately return all property of the Region, including without limitation cash advances, ID card, lab coats, cell phone, credit cards, pagers, and keys. Property not readily available to the employee must be returned to the Region no later than one (1) week after the employee has been notified of the discharge. The Region shall pay all wages and accrued PTO owed a discharged employee no later than the end of the next payroll period, provided that all property has been returned.
- 18.7. An employee has the right to a Union Representative or Union Officer present at any investigatory conference in which the employee reasonably believes she may be subjected to discipline. An employee who is to be notified of a discharge in a face-to-face meeting also will have the right to have a Union Representative or Union Officer present.

19.GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

Any complaints or disputes involving terms and conditions covered by the National Addendum, shall be governed by the national grievance and arbitration process in Article 21 of the National Addendum and not the local grievance procedure outlined below.

19.1. A grievance shall be considered waived unless it is submitted and processed in accordance with the following procedure and time tables:

An employee and a Union Representative may orally present and discuss a grievance with the appropriate management representative of the Region. A written report of any agreement reached as a result of the discussion shall be provided to the Union. Informal discussion shall not serve to extend the time within which a grievance must be filed, unless such is mutually agreed upon in writing.

Step 1 If no settlement is reached, the grievance shall be reduced to writing and submitted to the Department Director within ten (10) calendar days, from the date upon which the employee first gained or should have reasonably gained knowledge of the alleged violation of the Agreement. The grievance shall be signed by the grievant and/or Union Representative, and shall set forth the nature of the dispute, the relief sought and the specific provisions of the Agreement alleged to have been violated.

The Department Director shall answer the grievance in writing within ten (10) calendar days, excluding holidays, after its receipt.

Step 2 If no settlement is reached, the grievance may be appealed to the head of Human Resources or designee within ten (10) calendar days, after the Step 1 decision was rendered.

The appeal will be discussed at Step 2 at the next scheduled semi-monthly Step 2 grievance meeting after receipt of the appeal by the head of Human Resources or designee. **Step 2**

grievances shall be heard on the first and third Wednesday of the month at 8:30-9am. The Union will notify the Company of the 2nd step grievances it will present the Monday before the step 2 hearing. The hearing times can be expanded or canceled by mutual agreement of the Parties. The employee shall be represented at such a meeting by a Union officer and/or Staff Representative of the Union. A Union Representative may also be present. The head of Human Resources or designee will render a decision ten (10) calendar days, from the date of the conclusion of the meeting.

19.2. In the event the grievance has not been satisfactorily resolved in Step 2, then a request for arbitration may be brought only by the Union, within thirty (30) calendar days from the date the Union received the Step 2 decision, by filing a request for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association in Philadelphia, PA and providing a copy to the head of Human Resources or designee of the Region at the same time.

An arbitrator will be appointed in accordance with, and the arbitration proceeding shall be governed by, the American Arbitration Association's Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules. All expenses of arbitration shall be borne by the Region and the Union equally, except that the cost of preparing and presenting each party's case or charge for a late cancellation shall be borne by each respective party.

- 19.3. The time limits herein may be extended only by written agreement of both parties.
- 19.4. No individual employee shall have the right to invoke arbitration. No grievance may be brought to arbitration unless it arises during the term of the Agreement.
- 19.5. The jurisdiction and authority of the arbitrator and his opinion and award shall be confined exclusively to the interpretation and/or application of the specific provisions of this Agreement.
- 19.6. The arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, detract from, alter, amend, or modify any provision of this Agreement, or to establish or alter any wage rate or wage structure, or to interpret any Federal or State statute or local ordinance, except where specifically referenced in this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have no authority to award punitive or exemplary damages.

The arbitrator shall have no authority to award monetary relief for any time period earlier than seven (7) calendar days before presentation of the grievance in Step One. This limitation shall not apply where the grievant did not know or did not have reason to know of the alleged violation of the Agreement. The arbitrator shall have authority to award relief only as to individuals who have filed or are clearly identified, as in a class action grievance, as interested parties affected by the contract violation alleged in the grievance.

- 19.7. The written award of the arbitrator on the merits of any grievance adjudicated within his jurisdiction and authority shall be final and binding on the Union and the Region.
- 19.8. The arbitrator shall not hear or decide more than one (1) grievance which does not arise out of the same incident without the mutual consent of the Region and the Union.

19.9. If discipline or discharge of an employee results from conduct relating to a donor or sponsor and the donor or sponsor does not appear at the arbitration, the arbitrator shall not consider the failure of the donor or sponsor to appear as prejudicial so long as a written statement from the donor or sponsor is presented.

20.NEW JOB CLASSIFICATIONS

If the Region establishes a new job classification within either of the bargaining units during the term of this Agreement, the Region shall notify the Union in writing at least thirty (30) days in advance of the establishment of said classification, and shall, upon request, negotiate with the Union the pay rate. In the event the parties negotiate to an impasse, the Region may implement its final offer, which may not be challenged in arbitration.

21.BULLETIN BOARDS

The Region shall provide space at its 700 Spring Garden Street location and fixed sites for a bulletin board which shall be used exclusively for authorized Union notices. The Region will also permit designated Union Representatives to place, in the Region's Production Planning mail slots for blood collection operations, Union notices for distribution to mobile unit and autologous collections operations, where the notices may be placed in a binder for review by bargaining unit members. The notices may not be visible to donors. The Region will not be responsible for distributing the notices or for the maintenance or safe-keeping of the binder. No notice shall be posted, placed in the Region's mail slots, or placed in the binder until the notice has been approved by the head of Human Resources or his/her designee. Approval will not be unreasonably withheld. Notices shall not contain statements which disparage the Red Cross, the Region, or any of its employees.

22.INFORMATION TO UNION

- 22.1. The Region will, within two weeks of a change in job description, provide the Union with a copy.
- 22.2. The Region will provide the Union with revisions of any Personnel Policy applicable to the bargaining units within two weeks of the revision.
- 22.3. The Region will provide the Union with a seniority list of employees within two weeks of January 31 and July 31 of each year. Such list shall include name, date of hire, and classification.
- 22.4. On a monthly basis the Region will provide the Union with a report of any changes to the list of bargaining unit employees including:
 - (A) change of name, phone, or address;
 - (B) transfer or change of status (including start date);
 - (C) termination (including effective date);

- (D) leave of absence or return to work (including start date, type of leave, return to work);
- (E) new hires, including name, address, phone, social security number, position/status, and start date.

23.ACCESS AND SOLICITATION

- 23.1. Upon reasonable notice to and prior arrangement with the head of Human Resources or his/her designee, the Region shall grant designated Staff Representatives (employed by the Union) access to designated areas at the Region's work sites during working hours, within the limitations set out below, to discuss grievances or problems arising under this Agreement with bargaining unit employees. Such visits shall not interfere with such employees' work assignments, and may not occur in the same area where blood collection services, including medical histories and refreshment, are in process. Permission to meet with employees shall not be unreasonably withheld. When the Region permits a non-exempt employee who is not on break to meet with a designated Staff Representative, the employee will be paid only if the visit is ten minutes or shorter. [As modified by Article 6 of the National Addendum]
- 23.2. Employees may only engage in solicitation or distribution of literature in non-work areas and during non-work hours.

24.UNION REPRESENTATIVES

- 24.1. The Region recognizes the right of the Union to designate Region employees to be Union Representatives and Union Officers. The number of Union Representatives shall be limited to a total of ten (10) Union Representatives. The number of Union Officers shall be five (5).
- 24.2. Subject to the provisions of Section 24.4, Union Representatives and Officers shall be allowed to:
 - (A) Represent employees in the bargaining units.
 - (B) Investigate and process grievances.
 - (C) Post Union notices in accordance with Article 21.
- (D) Attend negotiating meetings (the number of Union representatives to be agreed upon between the Union and the Region) if designated as a member of the Negotiating Committee and scheduled to attend by the Union.
 - (E) Attend scheduled meetings with the Region.
- 24.3. Each Union Representative and Union Officer shall be a Region employee whose tenure of employ exceeds her probationary period. The Union shall furnish the Region

with the name of any authorized Union Representative and Union Officer and shall notify the Region in writing of any changes thereto.

- 24.4. Union Representatives and Union Officers shall obtain the permission of their supervisor prior to conducting any union business during work hours. If such permission is granted, the Union Representative/Union Officer will continue to be paid at her regular rate, provided that the normal paid work day for that Union Representative/Union Officer shall not be extended by such union business.
- 24.5. The Region agrees to provide up to a total of eight (8) paid days of administrative leave and up to a total of four (4) unpaid days of administrative leave per year that can be taken by the Union Officers (or designee) to attend Union conventions, conferences or workshops. These administrative leave days shall not count towards the calculation of any overtime pay. Written notice from the Union of the authorization of an Officer (or the designee) to utilize such leave time shall be given to the head of Human Resources at least thirty (30) days in advance of the date of such leave. An Officer (or the designee) utilizing such leave shall be paid at her base rate of pay.

25.HOLIDAYS

All holidays will be designated and administered pursuant to Article 15 of the National Addendum. All floating holidays shall be scheduled in accordance with local agreement(s) and practices for the duration of this Agreement.

- 25.1. When work in a job classification is needed for the holiday, the Region shall first offer work to the most senior employees in the classification who have volunteered to work on the holiday. The Region shall provide a sign-up sheet for volunteers in advance of the holiday. If there are insufficient numbers of volunteers, the Region shall assign employees in reverse order of seniority on a rotational basis.
- 25.2. Except in a blood emergency, the region will make every effort to close registration at all mobile blood collection operations on Christmas Eve no later than 2:00 PM, and on New Year's Eve, at 3:00 PM. Except in a blood emergency, in the event the Region schedules pheresis on the Sundays surrounding Christmas and New Year's in lieu of scheduling pheresis on Christmas and New Year's, no employee will be required to work more than six consecutive days.

26. PAID TIME OFF

All employees will be covered by the PTO provisions outlined in Article 16 of the National Addendum. Employees will continue to schedule time off in accordance with local agreement(s), practices and the provisions outlined below for the duration of this Agreement.

- a. Employees' requests for scheduled PTO days and the scheduling of such days shall be determined as follows:
 - i. PTO time shall be granted based on Red Cross seniority. The number of employees granted PTO in a job classification at any one time shall be consistent with the Region's reasonable staffing needs.
 - ii. Employees shall be provided with a "PTO and Holiday Rounds" form no later than November 1 of each year to request PTO days (and holidays during the holiday rounds period) for the next year. Employees may request single days as well as full week(s) off. Employees may only request PTO days that will be accrued by the end of the next year.
 - iii. Employees shall submit requests on the "PTO and Holiday Rounds" from no later than December 1 of each year. The Region shall provide a written response to employees' requests no later than January 15 of each year. The Region shall post a PTO schedule for all employees no later than January 15 of each year.
 - iv. By no later than May 1st and again by November 1 of each year, the Region shall inform each employee of how many of her PTO days were unused as of April 1st and October 1 respectively. Requests for PTO during the remainder of the year and the upcoming Grace Period must be submitted by November 15. Timely requests will be considered on a seniority basis. All other PTO scheduling requirements remain in effect, including the three week notice period.
 - v. PTO requests in blocks of five (5) consecutive days shall be given first priority for granting of PTO. Single day requests will be given the next priority.
 - vi. Additional requests for PTO after the initial period shall be granted on a first-come, first-granted basis. Employees shall make such requests at least three (3) weeks in advance of the requested day(s). In the event the Region receives PTO requests from two employees in the same classification at the same time, the Region will grant the PTO request to the employee with the most Red Cross seniority. Pheresis float positions may apply for PTO in either classification provided no more than 20% of the pheresis trained staff (calculated on October 1st for the next calendar year) has scheduled PTO. The Region will respond to such PTO requests in writing within one (1) week of submission.
 - vii. "Prime Time" for PTO shall be from the last week in May through the first week in September. During this period, all collection staff will be entitled to one week of scheduled PTO, though the specific week available will be determined based on seniority. The most senior thirty per cent of employ-

ees in each bargaining unit will be granted up to two (2) weeks of scheduled PTO, though the specific weeks available will be determined based on seniority. The current scheduling practice for 800 number, production planning, and auditing will be maintained.

- viii. Employees may request single days or the complete week for the "Holiday Rounds" period. The Region may grant up to five (5) days during any holiday period (Thanksgiving, Christmas, New Years). Requests will be granted within each job classification on the basis of Red Cross seniority and a rotational or "wheel" system. An employee who received requested holiday time in one year because of her Red Cross seniority will be placed on the bottom of the seniority list for the next year. Each holiday period will have its own rotation. Unless staffing needs are satisfied, no employee will be granted PTO until they have been through two (2) holiday rounds. Upon request, the holiday wheel shall be current for viewing by the Union Co-Presidents.
 - ix. PTO days used with less than three weeks notice are considered to be unscheduled PTO days. Employees are expected to give as much notice as possible prior to the use of unscheduled PTO. A non-field staff employee must contact her own supervisor or a designated supervisor ninety (90) minutes before the start of her shift. A field staff employee must contact the operational link office or the phone number designated by the Region at least three (3) hours before the start of his or her shift and if the employee is scheduled to start a shift at 9:00 a.m. or earlier, then, if possible, the employee should do so by 11:00 p.m. the night before.
 - x. The number of collection employees allowed to take scheduled PTO days on the same day will be at least one per ten full-time equivalent employees per category. During unusual circumstances, declared in writing by the Region's CEO, the Region may limit the maximum number of employees to be off, but in no case will the number be limited to less than half the maximum as set forth above and PTO time already granted will not be revoked. Notwithstanding the above, nothing in this Section shall be interpreted to preclude the Company from maintaining, instituting or changing shifts or workweeks to obtain the production it desires per Article 7 of the National Addendum, which includes the right to require employees to work Saturdays or Sundays.
- b. Repeated unscheduled absences may subject an employee to discipline in accordance with the attendance policy.

c. Emergency Day. Once each calendar year, an employee who has worked for the Region for at least twelve (12) months may request approval for an emergency day off to address bona fide emergency situations that are not known in advance.

22

The employee must submit a written request, with accompanying documentation, to Human Resources within five (5) calendar days of the emergency. If approved by Human Resources in its discretion, the emergency day will be charged against the employee's annual PTO allotment, but shall not be counted as an occurrence under the Attendance Policy. Employees who have five (5) or more occurrences in the previous twelve (12) months and employees who have exhausted their PTO for the year are not eligible for an emergency day. [note: The Parties agreed to provide an instructional Memo to all employees on an improved emergency day off process]

- A regular employee who transfers to per diem or temporary employee status shall receive unused accrued PTO days in the next scheduled paycheck, provided that any PTO days used in advance of accrual will be deducted from the next scheduled paycheck.
- d. A regular employee who terminates employment with the Region shall be paid for all unused accrued PTO days, provided that an employee voluntarily terminating employment must give two weeks notice of the intent to terminate employment. Pay for PTO taken in excess of PTO accrued up to the time of termination will be considered to be part of and credited to the Region against the final salary payment.

26. ATTENDANCE POLICY

- a. An absence occurrence is defined as one or more consecutive days off from work where the absence is paid through unscheduled PTO. Each unpaid day of absence will also count as an occurrence. If an employee does not appear for an assignment that is scheduled on any day in addition to his or her regular work week, including any weekend overtime assignments, the absence will be paid through unscheduled PTO and such absence will count as an occurrence. If the employee does not have PTO days available, the unpaid day of absence will also count as an occurrence.
- b. An employee with six (6) occurrences in a rolling year (dating from the first occurrence) may receive a report of oral warning.

A seventh occurrence within the year may result in a written warning.

An eighth occurrence within the year may result in a final written warning.

A ninth occurrence within the year may result in dismissal.

In addition, once an employee reaches her seventh occurrence in a rolling year, that employee shall receive a Final Written Warning, a copy of which shall be sent to the Union. Furthermore, if she incurs five additional occurrences in the next twelve month period she will be subject to discharge if she incurs a sixth occurrence in that same twelve month period.

- c. Absences which are a result of a Family Medical Leave or use of Catastrophic Sick Leave will not be considered in the disciplinary process.
- d. An unscheduled PTO day will not count as an occurrence under the attendance policy, if the employee finds another employee who is qualified to perform the same function to replace her for that day, provided that there is no added cost to the Region and Production Planning is notified of the replacement at least forty-eight (48) hours before the scheduled reporting time.
 - A lateness in excess of 30 minutes or more will result in use of the employee's PTO time to provide pay for each hour the employee is late. If the employee does not have accrued PTO, it will not count as an occurrence for UPTO, but the employee will not be paid for the hours late. This will not apply to reserve staff who receive late notice to report to a mobile site. When an employee is reassigned to a different drive, they will not be charged PTO if their reassignment results in a late arrival.

e.

27. WORKERS' COMPENSATION

a. Pennsylvania: Under current law, all eligible employees out of work due to an on-the-job injury or illness are eligible for lost wage benefits after they are out of work for seven consecutive calendar days. On the eighth day of disability due to such an injury, eligible employees will be paid at the state-required rate, (currently 66 2/3% of their average weekly wage), up to a state-defined maximum. This payment continues from the eighth day to the 13th day of disability. On the 14th day of disability, the employee will also receive compensation at the state-required rate for the first seven days of the disability.

The Region will permit employees to use PTO or CAT, if the absence qualifies for CAT leave, during the first seven days of such a disability.

If such a disability continues for 14 consecutive calendar days or more and if the disability is compensable under Pennsylvania Workers' Compensation Law, the Region will return to the employee's PTO bank (or CAT bank for CAT eligible absences) two-thirds of the leave used during the first seven calendar days. The Region will be entitled to receive the proceeds of any workers compensation insurance check attributable to the first seven calendar days of the disability, and the employee is required to tender such a check to the Region. After the 13th day of such disability, all payments to the employee will be covered by state Workers Compensation Insurance.

If an injury or illness is not compensable under state law, the employee may use PTO or catastrophic sick leave bank consistent with Articles 26 and 27.

b. New Jersey: Under current law, all eligible employees out of work due to an onthe-job injury or illness are eligible for lost wage benefits after they are out of work for seven consecutive calendar days. On the eighth day of disability due to such an injury, eligible employees will be paid at the state-required rate, (currently 70% of their average weekly wage), up to a state-defined maximum. On the eighth day of disability, the employee will also receive compensation at the state-required rate for the first seven days of the disability.

The Region will permit employees to use PTO or CAT, if the absence qualifies for CAT leave, during the first seven days of such a disability.

If such a disability continues for eight consecutive calendar days or more and if the disability is compensable under New Jersey Workers Compensation Law, the Region will return to the employee's PTO bank (or CAT bank for CAT eligible absences) seventy percent of the leave used during the first seven calendar days. The Region will be entitled to receive the proceeds of any workers compensation insurance check attributable to the first seven calendar days of the disability, and the employee is required to tender such a check to the Region. After the eighth day of such disability, all payments to the employee will be covered by state Workers Compensation Insurance.

If an injury or illness is not compensable under state law, the employee may use PTO or catastrophic sick leave bank consistent with Articles 26 and 27.

28. LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- a. Any employee desiring a personal leave of absence without pay from her employment must secure written permission from the Region. Such a leave will be granted for up to thirty (30) days only in special cases and will depend upon the needs of the Region.
- b. A pregnant employee shall be granted a leave of absence for the period of any medical disability prior to and after the birth of her child. To the extent that she has accrued catastrophic sick leave, she must first use any such leave. To the extent that she has insufficient accrued catastrophic sick leave, the employee will be given leave without pay, or will be placed on short term disability, if applicable. Further, the Region shall continue to grant to such an employee an unpaid Family and Medical Leave of up to twelve (12) weeks to care for a new born child after the period of medical disability. A pregnant employee shall be permitted to continue to work for so long as she can safely perform all the duties of the job, and shall be permitted to return to work at such time as she can again perform all the duties of her job, subject to Section 14.2 (i).
- c. Leaves of absence not to exceed the periods set forth in Sections 14.2(i) and (j) shall be granted respectively for non work-related and work-related illnesses and injuries. Medical verification may be required.
- d. "Family and Medical Leave" shall be in conformance with the Region's Policy and the Family and Medical Leave Act.
- e. An employee returning to work from an authorized leave of absence without pay shall be reinstated to her former position or to a substantially equivalent position.

- f. Employees shall continue to accrue seniority during an authorized leave of absence without pay. However, employees shall not accumulate PTO or Catastrophic Sick Leave during the period of the absence where such absence exceeds one (1) month.
- g. Health insurance benefits, including the **Company's share** of the premium costs, will be maintained for the duration of a Family and Medical leave. Employees on Family and Medical leave will continue to pay their share of the premium costs. For all other approved leaves of absence without pay, health insurance benefits, including the Region's share of the premium cost, will be maintained for the remainder of the month in which the leave of absence commenced. At the end of such period, the employee shall have the option of continuing her health care coverage under COBRA, provided that she makes timely payment(s), for the full length of the leave of absence, to the Region for the full cost of the coverage. Except as modified by TeamCare policies.
- h. An employee requesting a leave of absence under this Article shall submit a request specifying the expected date of return. An extension of a leave shall be requested as soon as the need is known, but no less than seventy-two (72) hours, excluding weekends, prior to the expected date of return.
- i. In the event that any applicable law **requires** benefits beyond what is contained in this Agreement, the law shall apply to all bargaining unit members.

29. FUNERAL LEAVE

The Region will grant a full-time regular or part-time regular employee with at least 180 calendar days of service up to three (3) days funeral leave with pay to handle the necessary family details and to attend the funeral of an immediate family member. Up to Five (5) days of paid funeral leave will be granted if:

- A. the deceased family member resided or the funeral is held more than 400 miles (one direction) from employee's home address.
- B. the employee has primary responsibility for making arrangements, handling matters associated with the death or imminent death of the family member or other extenuating circumstances requiring immediate attention.

Immediate family includes: parent, child, spouse (domestic partner), brother, sister, grand-parent, grandchild, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, stepparent, stepchild, stepbrother, stepsister. Other relatives will be considered on a case-by-case basis. The Region reserves the right to require verifying documentation of the death of the immediate family member.

30. JURY DUTY

A full-time regular and part-time regular employee with at least 180 calendar days of service who is summoned for jury duty shall notify the Region on the first working day after receipt of the jury summons. The Region will pay the difference between the amount the employee received for jury duty and the straight-time pay for the regularly scheduled hours he would have received in the absence of jury duty only for the working days on which the employee served on the jury. The employee must present and endorse to the Region the check received from the legal jurisdiction in which he served or a personal check for the amount owed to the Red Cross under this Article in order to qualify for differential jury pay.

31. SEVERANCE PAY

The Red Cross National severance policy will apply to the bargaining units.

32. HEALTH AND WELFARE AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Health insurance and related benefits shall be administered in accordance with Article 17 and 18 of the National Addendum. Employees will no longer be eligible to participate in the Employer sponsored Health and Welfare plans (i.e. Medical, Dental, Vision, Life Insurance (including Supplemental Life), Disability (both Short- and Long-Term), Wellness Incentive and Health Care Flexible Spending Account plans. Retirement benefits shall be administered in accordance with Article 19 of the National Addendum.

Bargaining unit employees shall receive benefits under the benefits package agreed upon in the National Addendum which includes medical, dental, vision, short term disability and life insurance. These benefits shall be administered in accordance with Articles 19 of the National Addendum.

33. MILEAGE & TRAVEL TIME

- a. The Region shall reimburse all blood collection staff at the current IRS rate for mileage reimbursement, for business-related miles driven in excess of 20 miles per day in a personal vehicle. The Region will continue to reimburse blood collection staff for tolls paid in connection with travel for which they may be subject to reimbursement for mileage.
- b. The Region agrees to calculate and pay travel time as follows:
- (a) Travel time is paid to blood collection employees, excluding employees regularly assigned to fixed sites.
 - (b) Method for Determining Travel Time Compensation
- (i) The Region will compensate HPAE represented collection staff at a rate of 1.5 minutes per mile as determined by weekly mileage prepared and submitted by the employee.

- (ii) Total travel time compensation for the week is the sum of the daily calculated travel time (1.5 minutes per mile multiplied by the actual number of miles driven), minus up to a maximum of one half (.5) hour of travel per day.
- (iii) All travel time is excluded for staff regularly assigned to a fixed site, except that when such staff are pulled from that fixed site and reassigned to a collection at another site, they will be entitled to travel time for the time spent traveling from the new site to their home and they also will be entitled to mileage for the travel from the fixed site to the new site and then from the new site to their home. If such staff are pulled before they report to their fixed site, they will be entitled to travel time and mileage according to the formula set forth above. Floating pheresis staff shall be entitled to travel time in accordance with paragraphs (1) and (2) above.
 - (c) The Region may audit submitted mileage.
- (d) The employee's travel time is then added to the employee's actual hours worked during the week and to any paid time off taken by the employee during the week. When determining the employee's compensation for the week, any travel time payable under this Section will offset any hours otherwise payable for the week under Section 11.4. If the sum is greater than forty(40) hours, the employee is paid for forty (40) hours at straight time and at time and one half for hours eligible for overtime payment under this agreement.

34. PERSONAL EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT & PARKING

- a. The Region shall continue to provide free parking to employees at the Musser Center.
- b. The Region shall make prior arrangement for free parking for employees whenever possible at mobile sites. Where reasonable efforts to secure parking have not been made, the Region shall reimburse employees who are regularly assigned to mobile sites for parking expenses.
- c. Personal expenses (including the parking expenses described in Section 36.2) reasonably incurred in the performance of official duties, and, where feasible, approved in advance by a supervisor, shall be reimbursed upon receipt of a signed, itemized voucher and receipts submitted in accordance with published deadlines.

35. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

- a. The Region shall apply to members of the bargaining units any tuition assistance policy which it may adopt for unrepresented employees.
- b. Upon submission of a roster of classes, the Region shall make a reasonable effort to accommodate an employee's schedule with her schedule of classes.
- c. The Region shall apply to members of the bargaining units any continuing education programs which it may adopt for unrepresented employees. Reimbursement

for fees, transportation or other expenses for an approved professional meeting will be considered on an individual basis.

- d. In the event either the New Jersey or Pennsylvania Board of Nursing requires Registered Nurses to earn a certain number of Continuing Education Units (CEUs) as a condition of license renewal, the Region agrees to make a reasonable effort to provide leave without pay for nurses to complete the CEU requirements.
 - b. For employees in the nursing bargaining unit, the Region shall pay the full costs of RN licensure in the state in which they do not reside through December 31, 2005. Effective January 1, 2006, for employees in the nurse bargaining unit, the Region shall pay the full cost of RN licensure in New Jersey if the RN does not reside in New Jersey so long as New Jersey requires an RN on blood drives. Additionally, the employer shall bear the cost of any PA or NJ RN license maintained by the RN. RN classified employees are strongly encouraged to be licensed in PA and NJ. Any employee hired or promoted into an RN classification after 12/31/24 will be required to be licensed in NJ and PA within 3 months of entering the position.

Employees completing a RN program will be reimbursed for the cost of their initial RN license (License only not background check etc.), however, to qualify for the license maintenance provision above they must be in a Nurse classification. All nurses shall be CPR trained. Periodically, the Region will schedule, at no cost to employees, CPR training. Any time spent by the employee in such training may, at the option of the Region, be compensated, except employees who are required by the Region to have such training will be compensated for the time.

The Region shall provide updates and inservices to employees on issues related to blood banking and infectious diseases.

36. NON-DISCRIMINATION

- a. All bargaining unit employees are covered by the non-discrimination clause in Article 4 of the National Addendum.
- b. Neither the Region nor the Union will discriminate against any employee because of her status in regards to union membership.

37. HEALTH AND SAFETY

- a. The Region shall make reasonable provisions for the health and safety of its employees.
- b. At the time of employment or transfer, at no cost to the employee, staff who have potential for exposure to blood borne pathogens shall be offered a hepatitis B vac-

cination series and anti-HBs testing in accordance with the most current recommendations of the U.S. Public Health Service. Employees who have never received hepatitis B vaccine shall be offered a full hepatitis B vaccination schedule. Employees may waive any or all vaccinations by signed waiver. Hepatitis B vaccinations will be administered to all appropriate employees in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. If a routine booster dose(s) of hepatitis B vaccine is recommended by the U.S. Public Health Service at a future date, such booster dose(s) shall be made available.

- c. Following percutaneous or mucous membrane exposure to blood or other body fluids, the employee will be advised to immediately treat the exposure site as recommended by the U.S. Public Health Service, and report for evaluation by the Designated Panel Provider. The Provider will offer testing, counseling, post-exposure prophylaxis and follow-up in accordance with the most current U.S. Public Health Service recommendations.
- d. If the Region medical plan ceases to offer an option for employees who participate in the medical plan to receive a flu shot without a co-payment being charged, then the Region will reimburse an employee who has medical insurance provided by the Region for a co-payment charged under the medical plan for an employee to receive a flu shot, provided that the employee must select the cheapest option available (e.g., having the flu shot administered by a primary care provider, rather than a specialist). Employees who do not have medical insurance provided by the Region will be reimbursed for a co-payment up to or equal to the amount provided to employees who have medical insurance provided by the Region for the cheapest option available under the Regional medical plan, provided that the employees uses any no cost option available under the employee's medical plan, or, if there is no free option, the employee must select the cheapest option available. Any employee seeking reimbursement will be required to submit documentation showing the date, the amount of the co-payment and the reason the co-payment was charged in order to be reimbursed.
- e. In the event that vaccines for AIDS or other strains of hepatitis become available, the Region shall provide such vaccines, to the extent required by applicable law or by American National Red Cross policy.
- f. If an employee at a collection site believes it is unsafe to proceed with the operations because of the type or condition of the facilities available, including the availability of equipment provided and/or the ability to conduct confidential histories, the employee shall notify the Charge or Team Lead. That person will take appropriate action, which may include contacting the Supervisor or Manager or their representative, and/or the Division Safety Officer.. If appropriate action is not taken, the employee may contact the either their Team Supervisor, Process Support or Quality Assurance. Those individuals will consult with each other within one hour of the employee in charge at collection site's initial contact. After consultation with the Director or CD representative, the employee in charge

shall make a recommendation whether or not to cancel the operation. If the Director or CD representative and the employee in charge cannot agree on whether or not to close the operation, the Director or CD representative will go to the site, review the conditions of the site, further discuss the matter with the employee in charge, and make a final decision on whether to close the site. Factors which will be considered in making the final decision will include availability of restrooms, lighting, ventilation, temperature, and any other conditions which may pose a threat to the health and safety of the donors or employees. If a feasible alternative is not available and the site/conditions are safe, then an employee or employees may be required to stay on the site to redirect donors.

g. In furtherance of the Employer's and Union's shared goals of maintaining a healthy and safe work environment, the Region and the Local will establish a Joint Health and Safety Committee which will meet every other month for 1 hour, at a regular day and time to be determined by the Parties. At a minimum, the RDSE or their designee and the Fixed Site Director or their designee shall be present at the meeting. The Union shall identify two Union representatives to the Health and Safety Committee for the purpose of attending such meetings. Such time shall be compensable. The Union shall provide an agenda of drives to discuss at least 7 days prior to the meeting, or else the meeting will be cancelled until the next scheduled meeting. The Parties may reschedule meetings by mutual consent.

38. LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- a. The Union and the Region agree to the establishment of a Labor-Management Committee, to be composed of up to eight (8) representatives selected by the Union and up to eight (8) representatives of the Region.
- b. The Labor-Management Committee shall meet at least six (6) times per year. The Labor-Management Committee shall function completely separately from and independent of the grievance procedure under this Agreement and will address issues of common concern.
- c. The Region agrees to release from work, if necessary, the Union representatives to the Labor-Management Committee, at no loss of their base rate of pay, for the purpose of attending such meetings.

39. PREMIUM PAYMENTS, BONUSES AND ON CALL PAY

a. Employees shall be paid the premium rate outlined in Appendix B of the National Addendum.

40. WAGES

- a. The Region agrees to make the following adjustments to wages: All base wage rates set by the local CBA to be increased pursuant to the NA.
- b. Minimum wage rates will be as follows:

HPAE wage table 2024 through 2028 - Position minimums							
Classification	2024	25-Jan	26-Jan	27-Jan	28-Jan		
Collection Tech II	\$19.40	\$19.79	\$20.18	\$20.59	\$21.00		
Collection Tech III	\$20.40	\$20.79	\$21.18	\$21.59	\$22.00		
Collection Specialist I	\$22.00	\$22.44	\$22.89	\$23.35	\$23.81		
Collection Specialist II	\$23.90	\$24.38	\$24.87	\$25.36	\$25.87		
Collection Specialist II, RN	\$32.00	\$32.64	\$33.29	\$33.96	\$34.64		
Collection Specialist I, RN	DNE	\$30.64	\$31.29	\$31.96	\$32.64		
Coordinator, Timekeeping	DNE	\$20.00	\$20.40	\$20.81	\$21.22		
Asst II, Calendar Planning	DNE	\$20.00	\$20.40	\$20.81	\$21.22		
Scheduler	DNE	\$20.00	\$20.40	\$20.81	\$21.22		
Auditor	DNE	\$20.00	\$20.40	\$20.81	\$21.22		
HPAE North Jersey wage table 2024 through 2028 - Position minimums							
Classification	2024	25-Jan	26-Jan	27-Jan	28-Jan		
Collection Tech II	\$19.40	\$20.78	\$21.19	\$21.62	\$22.05		
Collection Tech III	\$20.40	\$21.78	\$22.19	\$22.62	\$23.05		
Collection Specialist I	\$22.00	\$23.56	\$24.03	\$24.51	\$25.00		
Collection Specialist II	<mark>\$23.90</mark>	\$25.55	\$26.06	\$26.58	\$27.11		
Collection Specialist II, RN	\$32.00	\$33.95	\$34.62	\$35.32	\$36.02		

The Region also may hire employees at higher rates due to relevant experience by offering a hire rate that is up to the wage rate being paid to an employee in

the same job classification with the same number of years of experience at the Region. Such relevant experience shall be shared with the local union prior to hire.

- (c) A collection staff employee who has her primary residence in one of the following New Jersey counties will be paid in accordance with the Northern New Jersey wage table above so long as she continues to have her primary residence in one of those counties: Sussex, Passaic, Bergen, Warren, Morris, Essex, Hudson, Hunterdon, Somerset, Union or Middlesex. Effective the first full pay period on or after November 1, 2005, the wage rate increment will increase by 3.5%. be paid in accordance with the Northern New Jersey wage table above
- 25.3. A pheresis trained employee who has been awarded a regular fixed-site position where pheresis operations are conducted will receive the pheresis rate for her position for all paid hours. An employee, trained in pheresis, who is not awarded a regular fixed-site position where pheresis operations are conducted, will receive the pheresis rate only when assigned to such a site.
 - a. Upon promotion, an employee's wage rate will be adjusted to the minimum of the range for the position to which she has been promoted, or will be increased by **two dollars and fifty cents (2.50) per hour**, whichever is greater:
 - b. Upon promotion **to CTIII**, an employee's wage rate will be adjusted to the minimum of the range for the position to which she has been promoted, or will be increased by one dollars (1.00) per hour, whichever is greater.

25.4. BLANK

25.5.

If an employee trained in pheresis seeks and is approved to return to a whole blood position, then she no longer will receive the pheresis promotion adjustment. If an employee trained in MCS+ seeks and is approved to no longer be available to perform MCS+ procedures, then she will no longer be eligible to receive the MCS+ promotion adjustment.

43.SUCCESSORSHIP AND SUBCONTRACTING

- c. The Region shall notify the Union in writing sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of any merger, sale, lease, and/or transfer of ownership of its operations.
- d. In the event the Region determines to subcontract work performed by bargaining unit employees, no employee who has the skill and ability to perform such work shall be laid off.
- e. The Region shall notify the Union in writing sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of any agreement for the subcontracting of bargaining unit work.

41. SEPARABILITY

The provisions of this Agreement are deemed to be separable to the extent that if and when a court of last resort adjudges any provision of this Agreement to be in conflict with any law, rule or regulation, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of this Agreement, but such remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect.

42. UNION BLOOD DRIVE

The Union agrees to sponsor and organize two mobile blood collections during each year of the agreement, and further agrees that the target will be a goal 60 donations for each collection.

43. PAYROLL IN ARREARS

The Region reserves the right to change its payroll system to a payroll in arrears system during the term of this Agreement.

44. TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect until December 31, 2028 and shall be renewed or reopened consistent with Article 24, Section 1 of the National Addendum. In the event the parties do negotiate for an amendment or termination of this Agreement, the Union agrees to provide the Region with a written notice of any intention to strike at least 10 days before any strike commences. This notice shall contain the date and time the strike shall begin, though the notice may be extended by written agreement of the parties. This requirement to provide a 10 day strike notice shall survive the expiration of this Agreement and any renewal or extension thereof.

For Health Professionals and Allied Employees, AFT, AFL/CIO:

For American Red Cross Blood Services, Penn-Jersey Region :

Timothy Posser, Co-President, Local 5103
Judith Merkowsky, Co-President, Local 5103
Renee Conyers, VP, Local 5103
Raina Morton-Greene, VP, Local 5103
Sabrina Handy, VP, Local 5103

ATTACHMENT A - IMPLEMENTATION OF 11.08

The Union and the Region agree that seniority, as used in Article 11, Section 8 of the collective bargaining agreement, with regard to the assignment of overtime for which staff have bid, shall be applied as follows:

- 1. A posted vacancy in any position shall be awarded to the most senior individual in that category. If no staff member in the category is available, the position shall be awarded to the most senior individual in the next higher category. For scheduling purposes, the hierarchy of categories will be from the lowest to the highest: Phlebotomist, DCA, Staff Nurse, Nurse Manager.
- 2. Overtime will be posted according to the current practice. Employees will bid for overtime in the following manner. First the employee shall have the option to indicate up to three preferences for overtime assignment. For each location, the most senior employees bidding shall be taken according to the priority indicated on their bid.

Empl	oyees biddin	g for overti	me will als	o be asked	the following:	"I do	_ do not	
wish	to work this	day if my p	references of	cannot be h	nonored."			

- 3. If an employee is scheduled and the run is subsequently cancelled, she shall be given the option of bumping the least senior employee working overtime that day.
- 4. If a weekend collection site is added to the schedule after the normal bidding process has been started, the Region will send a memorandum to each employee that is qualified to work at the additional site. The memorandum will list the date and location of the additional site and the type of collection to occur (i.e., pheresis or whole blood collection). The employee will be given a minimum of five days to indicate his/her desire to work at the additional location (more time may be given if circumstances allow). The Region will assign employees at this additional site in accordance with the procedures listed above.
- 5. The parties agree that this settlement shall not serve as precedent for any other interpretation of this agreement, or with regard to the application of seniority for any other purpose of this agreement.

LETTERS OF AGREEMENT

MAY 23, 2005 LETTER OF AGREEMENT SCHEDULING WORK IN EXCESS OF REGULAR WORK WEEK AS AMENDED MAY 23, 2008

Notwithstanding the below, nothing in this Letter shall be interpreted to preclude the Company from maintaining, instituting or changing shifts or workweeks to obtain the production it desires per Article 7 of the National Addendum, which includes the right to require employees to work Saturdays or Sundays. The parameters for scheduling work in excess of the regular work week under Section 11.7 shall be as follows:

1. General Principles

- 1.1. For employees hired on or after May 23, 2002, a full week of granted PTO will run from Monday through Sunday.
 - (a) Retired employees working as per diem employees will be exempt from the weekend work requirements delineated below.

1.2. Whole Blood Collection DCAs

(a) Effective October 1, 2005, the maximum number of additional days a senior employee (seniority of 1 through 50) may be required to work during each six (6) month period is:

Full Time	11
80% FTE	9
60% FTE	7
Per diem	2

(b) Effective October 1, 2005, the maximum number of additional days a junior employee (seniority of 51 or greater) may be required to work during each six (6) month period is:

Full Time	14
80% FTE	12
60% FTE	9
Per diem	3

- (c) During the months of March and September, the Region will update the seniority listing and apply the most current seniority to the following six (6) month period.
- (d) Effective October 1, 2005 and updated every six (6) months thereafter, the most senior fifty (50) DCAs shall work a normal work week of Monday through Friday.
- (e) No employee shall be forced to work more than six (6) consecutive days.
- (f) Notwithstanding the above, flex week employees, including new employees, will remain subject to flex week scheduling, though the Region will schedule flex week employees off at least one out of every four weekends.
- 1.3. Apheresis Collection Employees and Whole Blood Collection RNs
- (a) By June 15, 2005 the Region will designate all weekends from July 1, 2005 through December 31, 2005 as either A, B or Special Event weekends. For each subsequent year, the Region will designate A, B or Special Event Weekends by October 1st for the following year.
- (b) Beginning July 1, 2005 the employees will be divided evenly into two teams (Team A and Team B) for the purposes of scheduling weekend assignments. Teams will be created in order to balance the skills and locations of employees of each team. For the purposes of weekend work, Trima trained employees will be considered apheresis staff.
- (c) The Region will schedule employees for weekend work based upon their team designation for the corresponding weekend utilizing a rotational seniority basis. During Special Event Weekends, the Region will assign staff to work weekends choosing from the entire bargaining unit.
- (d) Bargaining unit employees may indicate their availability to work designated weekends. The assignment of such employees shall not impact the selection of employees for work on designated team weekends or the assignment of team staff on a rotational basis.

(e) Part-time employees will be scheduled to work on their assigned team weekends up to the following maximums:

80% FTE 10 60% FTE 8 Per diem 2

- (f) Notwithstanding the above, flex week employees, including new employees, will remain subject to flex week scheduling.
- 1.4. For pheresis and whole blood collections, weekend work shall be assigned in the following order:
 - (a) Non-traditional work week employees
 - (b) Flex work week staff utilizing least senior staff consistent with weekly staffing needs
 - (c) Voluntary overtime bids from the bargaining unit utilizing most senior staff
 - (d) Non-voluntary overtime utilizing a rotational seniority list
- 1.5. At the request of either party, the parties will meet and discuss whether to agree to a different method of scheduling weekend work.
- 1.6. Employees working weekend drives with scheduled closing times of 4:00 p.m. or later will receive a premium payment of \$50.

MAY 23, 2005 LETTER OF AGREEMENT – SCHEDULING WEEKEND WORK FOR AUDITORS AS AMENDED MAY 23, 2008

Notwithstanding the below, nothing in this Letter shall be interpreted to preclude the Company from maintaining, instituting or changing shifts or workweeks to obtain the production it desires per Article 7 of the National Addendum, which includes the right to require employees to work Saturdays or Sundays.

- 1. Auditors shall not be required to work more than two (2) consecutive weekends, except for the Tuesday through Saturday assignment and Sunday through Thursday assignment.
- 2. The normal weekend work day shall be eight (8) hours of work or such lesser amount of time as might be required to perform auditing functions. An employee who works weekend shifts in auditing shall be guaranteed eight (8) hours of pay for working six (6) hours or more up to eight (8) hours. This excludes the Tuesday through Saturday assignment.
- 3. Employees may be required to work in excess of the regular workweek. Employees shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half (1 1/2) the regular straight-time hourly rate for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in one (1) week.
- 4. On a monthly basis, employees shall indicate their requests for overtime shifts in Auditing on Saturday, Sunday or designated holidays. Two (2) weeks after the submission of such requests, the Region shall post a notice of employees' requests for overtime for a one-month period. When scheduled overtime is required for a particular day, the Region shall first attempt to obtain volunteers by seniority from those who have indicated their desire to work on that day. In the event that there are not sufficient volunteers to perform the overtime work, it shall be assigned to qualified employees in reverse order of seniority, on a rotational basis. Voluntarily working overtime on a Saturday, Sunday or designated holiday shall count as an overtime shift worked for purposes of assignment of involuntary Saturday, Sunday or designated holiday overtime on the rotational basis. The Region will continue to operate according to the guidelines set forth in the side letter of June 17, 1998, attached to this agreement as Attachment A.

MAY 23, 2008 LETTER OF AGREEMENT – MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT FOR FIXED SITE EMPLOYEES

Any employees permanently assigned to fixed sites after May 23, 2008 shall not receive mileage reimbursement. The parties agree within thirty days of ratification that they will meet and discuss mileage reimbursement for current permanent fixed site employees who have been receiving mileage reimbursement. This paragraph does not impact either party's interpretation of Section 35.1.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT RE MCS AWARD

On a drive where MCS is running and there are four (4) productive procedures per each machine assigned on that drive, then each MCS staff on that drive will receive a \$15 customer service award.

SEPTEMBER 15, 2011 LETTER OF AGREEMENT - RN NO LAYOFFS

The Region agrees that through May 22, 2014, it will not lay off any RN who is employed by the Region on May 22, 2011. Except as modified by MOA #1 of the National Addendum.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT – STAFFING COMMITTEE

The Region and the Union agree that when staffing issues arise, either party may put them on the agenda for the next regularly scheduled Labor Management Committee meeting. Notice of this agenda item will be provided to the other side at least fourteen (14) days in advance so that each party can ensure that appropriate staff are present for that part of the meeting to address the staffing issues. The meeting shall last no longer than three (3) hours unless mutually agreed to by the parties. In addition, the Union may notify the Region in advance of drives that may be understaffed and the Region will take appropriate action.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT – AUDITORS

Auditing staff in the Collections Department who work on a shift with a scheduled start time between 3:00 p.m. and 10:59 p.m. shall receive a 10% shift differential. Auditing staff in the Collections Department who work on a shift with a scheduled start time between 11:00 p.m. and 3:00 a.m. shall receive a 15% shift differential. Consistent with the National Addendum, Article 14, Sections 4 and 5, this differential shall remain in effect until the new payroll and HRIS system goes live on July 1, 2016 or at a later time. At that time, employees shall be paid the premium rate outlined in Appendix B of the National Addendum.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT – Inclement Weather

- 1. There will be a Committee that meets in the fall of each year to discuss preparation for the upcoming winter season, including timely notification of staff and the use of PTO and UPTO on **inclement weather days**. This can be part of an existing Labor-Management Committee meeting that includes scheduling and donor recruitment staff. **Inclement weather shall be defined as severe weather that significantly impacts the ability of staff to travel**. Examples include but are not limited to snowstorms, hurricanes, severe flooding etc.
- 2. If an employee who is scheduled to work calls out because of **inclement weather**, the employee will not be charged with an occurrence for a UPTO or LWOP if the employee's work assignment is later cancelled and other employees assigned to that work assignment are not offered reassign-ment. If, however, the assignment is not cancelled or the assignment is cancelled but other employees scheduled on that same assignment are offered reassignment, then the employee will be charged with an occurrence for UPTO unless the employee lives in an area that is significantly more impacted by the **inclement weather** than other employees scheduled on that assignment, in which case a PTO day will not be unreasonably denied if requested. The Region's determination shall be based on the employee's address as reflected in HR Direct Access as of that date. In the event of weather related reassignments, an employee will only be reassigned once and may refuse any additional reassignments.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT – UNIFORMS

Collections employees who are required to wear scrubs will be covered by the uniform allowance program outlined in Article 12 of the National Addendum.

SIDE LETTER COST SAVINGS TEAM

The Penn Jersey Biomedical Region (hereafter known as the Region) and HPAE Local 5103 (hereafter known as the Union) recognize that the Cost per Unit Collected in the Region is higher than optimum. In order to address this issue, the Union and the Region with Divisional and National assistance, pledge to work collaboratively to bring this cost down.

In order to accomplish such cost savings a core team will be formed at the Local level and may include the Directors of any and all departments that contribute to the calculation of CPUC for the Region. This team shall meet no less than quarterly, project teams may need to hold meetings / conference calls on a more regular basis. Representatives from IUOE and IBT shall be invited to participate. Divisional Management and Senior Leadership may be invited to participate on an occasional basis.

The progress, findings and recommendations of the Local team shall be reported to Divisional management in writing within 10 calendar days of each meeting.

The progress, findings and recommendations of the Local team shall be reported to Senior Partnership Committee in writing on a semi-annual basis, or more often if requested.

In order to effectively track the progress of this initiative, the CPUC of the Region shall be calculated in a consistent fashion and reported to all parties on a quarterly basis prior to the quarterly meetings. The members of the Local team shall be identified within 30 days of ratification and shall meet no later than 75 days after ratification.

The Parties agree to meet and discuss the effectiveness and continuation of this team on an annual basis.

Communications Side Letter

In an effort to streamline Labor related business both parties shall create and maintain an updated contact list with preferred contact methods. Every effort will be made by the members of the Local Executive Board to provide email addresses that are not hosted on Red Cross servers. Copies of these lists may be requested at any time. Once these contact methods are established they shall be honored.

Letter of Agreement – Pandemic Preparedness

The Parties agree to add Pandemic Preparedness as a regular agenda item for the Labor Management Meetings, and add additional time to accommodate such discussions.

Letter of Agreement - Drivers

The Parties agree to meet and discuss the number of drivers and assignments within 60 days of ratification of this agreement.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT: North Jersey Wage Correction

The Union identified an issue with employees being hired in northern New Jersey that may not have received the appropriate compensation. The Company will:

- Identify employees hired in the covered counties and their current rate of pay and pay history
- For those not having the 7.5% added per the contract, wage and title data will be reviewed to determine if the error was corrected prior to this agreement.
- The Union and Red Cross will discuss how to correct any employee not corrected.

Such review shall be completed by the Parties by 2/28/25.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT: CSII Retro Pay

Per the implemented CSII agreement, the Company will do the following within 30 days of ratification of the agreement.

a. Current Collection Tech III's promoted to Collections Specialist II shall receive the base wage for the position or an additional \$2.00 per hour (or per the National Ad-

dendum) applied to their base wage, whichever is greater. Existing Collection Specialist II's (Charges) wages shall be adjusted to bring their Charge increase to the \$2.00 amount (for example: a Charge who received \$1.00 at promotion to Charge will be increased by \$1.00 to bring their baked in pay to \$2.00)

b. Current Donor Collection Specialist I's promoted to Collection Specialist II shall receive the base wage for the position, or a base wage increase of \$2.00 per hour (or per the National Addendum) applied to their base wage, whichever is greater. Existing Collection Specialist II's (Charges) wages shall be adjusted to bring their Charge increase to the \$2.00 amount (for example: a Charge who received \$1.00 at promotion to Charge will be increased by \$1.00 to bring their baked in pay to \$2.00)

Such adjustments shall be retroactive to the payroll week of the date of implementation of Impact, September 23, 2024.

Agreed:		
HPAE L5103	Red Cross	